Supreme Court Case No. 29048 - 2 Court of Appeals Case No. 42972-1-II

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

CITY OF LAKEWOOD,

Petitioner,

Vs.

DAVID KOENIG,

Respondent.

CITY OF LAKEWOOD'S PETITION FOR REVIEW



Matthew S. Kaser, WSBA # 32239 CITY OF LAKEWOOD 6000 Main Street Lakewood, WA 98499-5027 Telephone: (253) 589-2489 Facsimile: (253) 589-3774 Attorney for City of Lakewood

I. INTRODUCTION

In a published opinion, Division II of the Washington Court of Appeals holds that the failure to provide an express exemption within Washington Public Records Act (PRA), chapter 42.56 RCW for personal identifying information, is an "unfortunate oversight," on the part of the Legislature. Hence, an agency subject to the PRA may not withhold these identifiers and must produce them when contained in a record. In reaching this decision, it reverses a Pierce County Superior Court decision which upholds claims of exemption for driver's license numbers contained in police reports. The Court of Appeals also holds that the City of Lakewood violated Mr. Koenig's "right to receive a response." The Court, in so ruling, provides guidance only that citation to the law supporting such exemption is insufficient, and that something more is required. The Court ultimately directs the City to pay Mr. Koenig's attorney fees under RCW 42.56.550(4).

This ruling must be reversed because it is contrary to law.

Moreover, this ruling forces local governments to violate federal law.

The Pierce County Superior Court notes that the "sole issue" in this case is "whether or not driver license issues are exempt[.]" (VRP 9).

Mr. Koenig has previously expressly represented in his trial court

pleadings and discovery responses that his sole issue was with the City's "redact[ion of] driver's license numbers from requested records based on the erroneous assertion that such information is exempt," on various grounds. (CP 17, ¶ 3.5). He affirmatively stated that he did "not care to litigate other possible violations so the matter is moot and/or nonjusticiable." (Id.). In an earlier appeal involving a discovery dispute between the parties, the Court of Appeals expressly noted that the "only issue is whether the City properly withheld driver's license numbers." City of Lakewood v. Koenig, 160 Wn. App. 883, 886 fn. 1, 250 P.3d 113 (2011).

Based on how the pleadings, discovery responses and the Court of Appeal's earlier decision framed this dispute, the trial court reached and decided this issue. Because the only issue decided by the superior court was whether these identifiers are exempt, nothing else is available to appeal. Instead of challenging the basis of the trial court's actual decision, Mr. Koenig assigned error to a theory which he previously stated that he "did not care to litigate." (CP 17, ¶ 3.5). Mr. Koenig's assignment of error, and the basis of the Court of Appeals reversal, introduced a separate issue: whether the City properly explained its claims of exemption.

¹ Brief of Appellant at p. 4, ¶ II (Issues Pertaining to Assignment of Error).

In deciding an issue not raised below, the Court of Appeals misapplied the framework set forth in *Sanders v. State*, 169 Wn.2d 827, 240 P.3d 120 (2010) relative to RCW 42.56.550(4). This Court has described RCW 42.56.550(4) as setting forth two rights, which it has described as "the right to receive a response," and the "right to inspect or copy." Mr. Koenig failed to appeal compliance with the latter right. And, in resolving the appeal, the Court of Appeals exposed sensitive personal identifiers open to public inspection.

To that end, the City of Lakewood petitions this Court pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(1) and RAP 13.4(b)(4) to grant review and reverse the Court of Appeals decision to the contrary.

II. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

The Petitioner is the City of Lakewood. The City requests that the Court grant review and reverse the decision identified in Part II.

III. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

A published opinion was issued by Division II of the Court of Appeals on September 4, 2013. 176 Wn. App. 397, 309 P.3d 610 (2013). The Court of Appeals denied a timely motion for reconsideration on October 28, 2013. A copy of both the *Published Opinion* and the *Order Denying Motion for Reconsideration* are attached.

IV. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Whether the Court of Appeals erred when it reversed the trial court and concluded that the City failed to comply with the duty to explain its exemptions to redactions of driver's license numbers under RCW 42.56.550(4) notwithstanding Mr. Koenig's representations in discovery that such a duty was not at issue in the case, and thus, the trial court decided an issue which was framed by the pleadings, discovery responses and an earlier decision from the Court of Appeals?
- 2. Whether the Court of Appeals erred when it reversed the trial court's grant of summary judgment in favor of the City and concluded that the failure to include an express PRA exemption protecting personal identifiers, such as driver's license numbers, was an unfortunate oversight, and thus these identifiers are not exempt from disclosure under the Public Records Act, chapter 42.56 RCW?

V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Court of Appeals, in an earlier appeal of this matter, succinctly described those facts forming the basis of this dispute.

In October 2007, David Koenig requested information from the City and the Lakewood Police Department in connection with investigations into alleged wrongdoing by three police officers on various occasions. The City complied on November 30, but it redacted the driver's license numbers of the officers, victims, and eyewitnesses under several provisions of chapter 46.52 RCW and chapter 42.56 RCW, n1

FOOTNOTES

n1 The City redacted other information, but Koenig did not litigate those redactions. As such, the only issue is whether the City properly withheld driver's license numbers.

In a letter explaining the redactions, the City informed Koenig that it believed that its response was adequate, but it gave Koenig until the close of business on December 21 to notify the City whether the responses satisfied his requests. If Koenig did not respond, the City was prepared to take "appropriate legal action to determine that it has fully complied with each of these requests." Koenig did not respond.

On March 5, 2008, the City sought declaratory relief that it had fully satisfied its obligations to Koenig under the PRA. On May 13, the City served Koenig with interrogatories and requests for production.

City of Lakewood v. Koenig, supra, 160 Wn. App. at 886-887 (footnote 2 and citation to clerks papers omitted).

Underpinning the necessity for this lawsuit, the City had identified three other lawsuits (one of which also involved Lakewood) where Mr. Koenig delayed filing of the complaint until the end of the one-year statute of limitations, and delayed service until the end of the 90-day tolling period under CR 3 and RCW 4.16.170.²

² At the time, and until a recent amendment to the statute, under the former version of RCW 42.56.550(4), a per-day penalty for the wrongful withholding of a record was mandatory. Laws 2011, ch. 273 § 1. In essence, a requester could delay service and if an agency was deemed to have wrongfully withheld a record, they could be liable for several

After the parties extensively litigated a discovery dispute, both parties sought summary judgment. (CP 59, 107). The City's motion was granted and Mr. Koenig's motion was denied. (CP 228-30).

Mr. Koenig appealed to Division II of the Court of Appeals. (CP 231). In a published decision, the Court reversed. In its seven-page Opinion, Division II held that because the City failed to provide an explanation of how its claimed exemptions applied to the driver's license numbers, the City violated the "brief explanation" requirement of RCW 42.56.210(3). As such, the failure to provide an explanation for withholding the driver's license numbers entitled Mr. Koenig to attorney fees pursuant to RCW 42.56.550(4).

Although Mr. Koenig did not assign error to the trial court's determination that driver's license numbers are exempt from disclosure under the Public Records Act, in an extended footnote, the Court of Appeals went on to state that it noted its "concern over the legislature's

thousand dollars in penalties without being aware that there was an issue until served fifteen months later.

In three lawsuits, Mr. Koenig effectuated such a delay. In a lawsuit against Pierce County, Mr. Koenig's claim accrued on or about January 3, 2006 (CP 263, ¶ 2.3); he filed suit 364 days later on January 2, 2007 (CP 262) and waited until March 27, 2007 – one week before the expiration of the 90 day tolling period – before serving the county. (CP 265). In a similar lawsuit against the City of Lake Forest Park, Mr. Koenig's claim accrued on September 11, 2006 (CP 270, ¶ 2.4); suit was filed on September 4, 2007 (CP 269) and service accepted by Lake Forest Park on November 7, 2007. (CP 273). In his prior lawsuit against the City of Lakewood, Mr. Koenig waited 364 days before filing, and waited 89 days before service. (CP 142, ¶ 16; CP 143, ¶¶ 22, 23).

Petition for Review - Page 6

.

failure to expressly provide adequate protection for personal identifying information in the PRA statute." 176 Wn. App. at 404 fn. 3. Its Opinion concluded with the following,

Allowing the release of a private citizen's personal identifying information exposes private citizens to the risk of harm such as identity theft without furthering this purpose. [Citation and parenthetical omitted]. The legislature has expressed obvious concern over the release of personal identifying information and recognized that the release of personal identifying information serves no legitimate purpose under the PRA. Accordingly, we believe that the failure to include an express PRA exemption that impedes the crime of identity theft and protects the release of personal identifying information appears to be an unfortunate oversight, but that it is up to the legislature, not the courts, to address.

Id., 176 Wn.App. at 404, fn. 3.

The City moved for reconsideration, and the Court of Appeals called for a response. On October 28, 2013, the Court issued a three-page order denying the motion.

The City now seeks review by this Court.

VI. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

The Court of Appeals violated a basic tenant of appellate review: an appellate court should only review the issues reached and decided by a trial court. The trial court expressly noted that the only issue before it was whether driver's license numbers were exempt. Indeed, in 2011 the Court of Appeals identified this as the only issue following remand. Mr.

Koenig's Answer and discovery responses also identify the propriety of the exemptions as the only issue in this case. Yet, Mr. Koenig appealed a different issue, upon which the Court of Appeals reversed.

On the merits, the Court of Appeals disregards this Court's holdings set forth in several cases, but most recently in *Sanders v. State* and *Rental Hous. Ass'n of Puget Sound v. City of Des Moines*, 165 Wn.2d 525, 199 P.3d 393 (2009) relative to an agency's obligations in responding to a PRA request. The Court of Appeals decision adds unnecessary confusion, which is evident in those situations where an agency undertakes to claim an exemption, over a specific record, which a specific statute (or series of statues) specifically exempts. The Court, in deciding the merits, exacerbated this conflict by incorrectly opining that there is effectively no exemption which could be asserted over personal privacy materials.

Review is therefore warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and RAP 13.4(b)(4).

A. The Court of Appeals Should not have Considered Mr.
Koenig's Assignment of Error When it was Never Ruled
upon by the Trial Court.

The heart of the Court's Opinion is that Mr. Koenig is entitled to relief under RCW 42.56.550(4) as interpreted by *Sanders*. Case law recognizes that RCW 42.56.550 embodies two different rights under the

PRA. In *Sanders*, this Court described them as "the right to receive a response," and the "right to inspect or copy." 169 Wn.2d at 860. These two rights are closely related. But as this Court explained, they are distinct:

It is the "response" that is insufficient when the <u>brief</u> explanation is omitted. See RCW 42.56.210(3)("Agency responses refusing, in whole or in part, inspection of any public record shall include ... a brief explanation of how the exemption applies to the record withheld." (emphasis added)). <u>In contrast</u>, the right to inspect or copy turns on whether the document is actually exempt from disclosure, not whether the response contained a brief explanation of the claimed exemptions.

Sanders, 169 Wn.2d at 860 (footnoted citation omitted; emphasis by the Court omitted; ellipsis by the Court; underlined emphasis added).

The Opinion weaves together these two rights, effectively treating them as one. But the Court of Appeals did not have to decide this issue at all.

In granting summary judgment to the City, the Superior Court recognized that the only issue before it was whether driver's license numbers are exempt:

The Court: ... I am looking at the sole issue whether or not driver license issues are exempt, and I think they are. And that's my ruling. And -

[Counsel for Mr. Koenig]: Could you state why they are exempt, please, for the record?

The Court: It's set forth in the statute.

[Counsel for Mr. Koenig]: Which statute?

The Court: It's all in the briefing. I am adopting the City's legal analysis.

(VRP 9).

The trial court had good reason to focus on this "sole issue." In 2011 on discretionary review of a discovery dispute, the Court of Appeals identified that there was only one issue to be determined on remand,

The City redacted other information, but Koenig did not litigate those redactions. As such, the only issue is whether the City properly withheld driver's license numbers.

160 Wn. App. at 886 fn. 1. This sentiment was echoed later in the same opinion,

[A]t this point the courts have been confronted only with a discovery dispute. Upon remand to the trial court, the trial court will determine whether the City properly redacted the driver's license numbers.

160 Wn. App. at 895.

It then "remand[ed] for further proceedings consistent with this opinion." 160 Wn. App. at 897. But, when this case returned to the Court of Appeals in 2013, it took a different approach,

[W]e do not resolve the question of whether the City properly redacted driver's license numbers in the disclosed records (an issue not before us in this appeal) ...

176 Wn. App. at 404, fn. 3.

Both the trial court and the 2011 Court of Appeals decision were correct. In both his trial court pleadings and his discovery responses, Mr. Koenig represented at the inception of this case that the only issue was the propriety of the City's claims of exemptions.

In its amended complaint, the City asserted:

The City has completely, fully and accurately supplied responses to Mr. Koenig's Public Records Act requests and the City's responses are in compliance with the terms of the Public Records Act.

(CP 7, ¶ 3.5)

In his Answer, Mr. Koenig provided a detailed response:

Denied. The City has redacted driver's license numbers from requested records based on the <u>erroneous assertion</u> that such information is exempt pursuant to the Federal Driver's Privacy Protection Act, 18 USC § 2721 (FDPPA), *Reno v. Condon*, 528 U.S. 141, 120 S.Ct. 666, 145 L.Ed.2d 587 (2000), RCW 42.56.050, RCW 42.56.240, RCW 46.52.120 and or RCW 46.52.130. It is possible, if not likely in light of the City's prior behavior, that the City has violated the PRA in other respects. However <u>Koenig does not care to litigate other possible violations so the matter is moot and/or nonjusticiable</u>. [Citations omitted].

(CP 17, \P 3.5; Emphasis added).

Paragraph 4.1 of both the amended complaint and the answer follow this theme, with Mr. Koenig, again, providing the narrow focus of this case:

... The parties have an existing and genuine dispute only to the extent that Koenig is willing to litigate the issues

raised in this action. As set forth in paragraph 3.5 (above) there is a genuine dispute as to whether the City properly redacted driver's license numbers. All other possible violations of the City in response to Koenig's October 2007 requests are moot and/or nonjusticiable.

(CP 17, ¶ 4.1; emphasis added).

Mr. Koenig's discovery responses confirm the limited scope of his disagreement with the City. For brevity, we highlight three.

Interrogatory No. 9:

With respect to the subject public records which form the basis of this litigation, do you contend that the City of Lakewood made any improper/incorrect redactions or claimed improper/incorrect exemptions to production? If so, please state for each such document: [Identify particulars]

Interrogatory No. 10:

With respect to the subject public records which form the basis of this litigation for which the City of Lakewood has made redactions or claimed an exemption to production, are there any claims of exemption or redaction which you do not understand? If so, as for each such claim, please state and identify: [Identify particulars]

(CP 176; emphasis added).

Both interrogatories contain an identical answer:

See paragraph 3.5 in Koenig's Answer regarding the redaction of driver's license numbers.

(CP 180). The City also submitted a "catch all,"

Interrogatory No. 13:

Do you maintain that the City of Lakewood otherwise violated the provisions of the Public Records Act, chapter 42.56 RCW in the processing of the public records request

forming the basis of this litigation? If so, please state with specificity all facts upon which you base such contention.

Answer:

See paragraph 3.5 in Koenig's *Answer* regarding the redaction of driver's license numbers. By citing inapplicable exemptions the City further violated RCW 42.56.210(3).

(CP 177 (Interrogatory No. 13); CP 180 (Answer to Interrogatory No. 13)).

To recap Mr. Koenig's trial court representations, (1) in his answer, he claimed that the City made the "erroneous assertion," that driver's license numbers were exempt; (2) failed to identify whether he believed the City made any "improper/incorrect redactions" or made "any claims of exemption or redaction which [he did] not understand[,]" but (3) did "not care to litigate other possible violations." But when twice asked by the trial court, Mr. Koenig failed to give an answer to whether he was indeed maintaining that driver's license numbers were exempt or not. (VRP 5). Nowhere did Mr. Koenig identify the sufficiency of the response as an issue.

As this Court has stated, "it is a well established principle that a party who has knowingly and deliberately assumed a particular position in judicial proceedings is estopped to assume a position inconsistent therewith to the prejudice of the adverse party." *Rushlight v. McLain*, 28 Wn.2d 189, 194, 182 P.2d 62 (1947). Mr. Koenig initially took the

position that the City improperly withheld these records and specifically disclaimed any other PRA violations. Now, after the superior court ruled against him, instead of challenging the basis of the superior court's decision, he made an entirely different challenge.

Despite these assertions and its earlier statements, the Court of Appeals reversed the trial court. But neither the Opinion nor its order on reconsideration addresses Mr. Koenig's statements in his pleadings or his discovery responses. Instead, it addressed an entirely different issue. This misapplication merits review under RAP 13.4(b)(1).

B. The Court of Appeals Misapplied this Court's Holdings Interpreting the PRA's Brief Explanation Requirement.

On the merits, the Court of Appeals issued a decision which conflicts with this Court's jurisprudence relative to the "brief withholding requirement," triggering review under RAP 13.4(b)(1). The purpose behind the brief explanation rule is simple and straightforward; "[c]laimed exemptions cannot be vetted for validity if they are unexplained." Sanders, 169 Wn.2d at 846. The description of the document and the grounds for withholding, "need not be elaborate," but should include basic identifying documentation of the document. See e.g., Progressive Animal Welfare Soc'y v. Univ. of Wash, 125 Wn.2d 243, 271 fn. 18, 884 P.2d 592 (1994) This Court, pre-Sanders, has noted that an agency must provide

enough information so as to allow a requestor and a court to determine three things:

(1) what individual records are being withheld, (2) which exemptions are being claimed for individual records, and (3) whether there is a valid basis for a claimed exemption for an individual record.

Rental Hous. Ass'n of Puget Sound v. City of Des Moines, 165 Wn.2d at 540.

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