RECEIVED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
Dec 30, 2013, 8:04 am
BY RONALD R. CARPENTER
CLERK



No. 89648-8

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

CITY OF LAKEWOOD *Petitioner*,

v.

DAVID KOENIG, *Respondent*.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

WILLIAM JOHN CRITTENDEN Attorney for Appellant

William John Crittenden, #22033 Attorney at Law 300 East Pine Street Seattle, Washington 98122 (206) 361-5972 wjcrittenden@comcast.net

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

III. ARGUMENT

A. The City's procedural arguments—that Koenig did not raise the Sanders issue in the trial court and that the Court of Appeals should not have reached that issue—are frivolous and do not warrant further review.

The City devotes almost half of its *Petition* to procedural arguments about whether the Court of Appeals should have reached the issue of whether the City was liable, under *Sanders* for failing to properly explain its exemptions. *Petition* at 1-4, 7-14, 17. The City's procedural arguments are meritless and do not warrant review.

Taking bits of Koenig's pleadings out of context, the City argues that Koenig represented to the trial court that the "sole issue" in this case was whether driver's license numbers are exempt. *Petition* at 1, 2. The portion of the trial court transcript quoted by the City shows that the trial

court erroneously concluded that whether driver's licenses were exempt was the "sole issue" in the case. RP 9; see Petition at 9-10. But the same portion of the transcript shows that Koenig objected to the trial court's characterization of the issue, and that Koenig specifically asked the trial court to state "why" driver's license numbers are exempt. Id. The court declined to answer Koenig's question. Id.

The City's argument about the "sole issue" in the case is a rehash of the City's false assertion that Koenig never asserted a violation of RCW 42.56.210(3) in the trial court. Koenig has exhaustively addressed the City's misleading characterization of the record. CP 194-197; *Reply Br.* at 1-3; *Answer to Mot. Recon.* at 4-9. As set forth in section II, Koenig repeatedly warned the City that its exemption claims were erroneous, and that the City had failed to explain its redactions under RCW 42.56.210(3).⁴

The City also argues that the only issue decided by the trial court

⁴ Koenig's Answer and responses to the City's discovery requests warned that the City had violated RCW 42.56.210(3). CP 17, 180. The City never asked Koenig to clarify his assertion that the City had violated RCW 42.56.210(3), and never attempted to explain or revise its exemption claims to comply with RCW 42.56.210(3). Instead, the City insisted on moving forward with its discovery requests that had nothing to do with the question of whether driver's license numbers are exempt or why. Lakewood, 160 Wn. App. at 893-894. The City also argues that the Court of Appeals 'prior opinion in this case (the discovery appeal) noted that the only issue in the case was "whether the City properly redacted driver's license numbers," and that the appellate court "took a different approach" on the current appeal. Petition at 2, 10. The Court of Appeals understood the issues and did not accept the City's erroneous interpretation of its own prior opinion.

was whether driver's license numbers are exempt, and that the Court of Appeals "violated a basic tenant [sic] of appellate review" by ruling on an issue that the trial court did not address. *Petition* at 2, 7, 8. The City's argument is directly contrary to RAP 2.5(a), which provides that an appellate court "may refuse to review any claim of error which was not *raised* in the trial court." *Id.* (emphasis added). Koenig moved for summary judgment on the issue of liability under *Sanders* in the trial court, and the trial court denied Koenig's motion. CP 107, 132-133, 201-207, 229. Koenig appealed the denial of his motion, and the Court of Appeals correctly reached and decided the *Sanders* issue. *Opinion* at 3-4.5

Finally, the City argues that Koenig's allegedly inconsistent statements trigger judicial estoppel under *Rushlight v. McLain*, 28 Wn.2d 189, 182 P.2d 62 (1947). *Petition* at 13-14. But the City never raised this issue, or cited *Rushlight*, in the lower courts. In fact, the City has raised the issue of judicial estoppel for the first time in its *Petition* to this Court. The assertion that the Court of Appeals *Opinion* conflicts with *Rushlight* for purposes of RAP 13.4(b)(1) is nonsense, and the City cannot present a new legal theory in its *Petition* anyway.

⁵ The City also argues that Koenig failed to assign error to the trial court's ruling that driver's license numbers are exempt. *Petition* at 2, 6, 8, 20. The City made this argument for the first time in its *Mot. Recon.* at 1, 5, 7, and the Court of Appeals correctly rejected it. *Order Den. Mot. Recon.* (10/28/13) at 2.

B. The Court of Appeals correctly followed this Court's opinion in Sanders v. State, 169 Wn.2d 827, 240 P.3d 120 (2010).

RCW 42.56.210(3) provides that "[a]gency responses refusing, in whole or in part, inspection of any public record shall include a statement of the specific exemption authorizing the withholding of the record (or part) and a brief explanation of how the exemption applies to the record withheld." The Court of Appeals correctly held that the City violated the plain language of RCW 42.56.210(3) by failing to provide the required brief explanation of its redaction of driver's license numbers. *Opinion* 4-5. While the *Opinion* mentions only the City's initial erroneous citations to "RCW 42.56.050," "RCW 42.56.240," and two sections of Title 46, the City cited numerous other statutes and court rules, and repeatedly changed its exemption theories during the litigation.

In Sanders, this Court unanimously held that an agency's failure to properly explain exemptions, as required by RCW 42.56.210(3), is a violation of the "right to receive a response," for which the agency is liable for attorney fees under RCW 42.56.550(4). Sanders, 169 Wn.2d at 848, 860. The Court rejected the state's argument that there is no separate remedy for a violation of RCW 42.56.210(3), noting that agencies must have an incentive to explain exemptions at the outset. Sanders, 169 Wn.2d at 847. The Court also clarified its earlier opinion in Progressive

Animal Welfare Society v. UW (PAWS II), 125 Wn.2d 243, 884 P.2d 592 (1994), holding that although an agency may change its exemption claims during an action for judicial review, such an agency is still liable for violating RCW 42.56.210(3). Sanders, 169 Wn.2d at 847-848.

In the lower courts the City erroneously argued that the City could not be liable for attorney fees under *Sanders* unless Koenig demonstrated that he was entitled to driver's license numbers. *Resp. Br.* at 5-9; CP 185-188. The Court of Appeals correctly rejected this argument, holding that, under *Sanders*, the City's violation of RCW 42.456.210(3) was a violation of the "right to receive a response" under RCW 42.56.550. *Opinion* at 6. The City abandons its erroneous interpretation of *Sanders* in its *Petition*.

The City's *Petition* argues that *Sanders* established a "bright line" rule under which an agency's response is insufficient only when the brief explanation is "omitted." *Petition* at 9, 16. The City takes portions of *Sanders* out of context to argue that the City complied with the PRA by providing inconsistent and erroneous explanations of why driver's license numbers were exempt. The City made this argument for the first time on appeal, *see Resp. Br.* at 5, and the Court of Appeals did not address it.

The City's new argument defeats the purpose of the explanation required by RCW 42.56.210(3), which is to allow exemptions to be "vetted for validity." 169 Wn.2d at 846. The City blithely suggests that

Koenig and the trial court were able to ascertain what was missing from the records. *Petition* at 15. Nothing in *Sanders*, *Rental Housing Ass'n v*. *City of Des Moines*, 165 Wn.2d 525, 199 P.3d 393 (2009), or *PAWS II* supports the City's argument that an erroneous and/or incoherent explanation of redactions complies with RCW 42.56.210(3). The City's argument is contrary to *Sanders*, which holds that an agency may change its initial exemption claims in an action for judicial review, but the agency is still liable for violating RCW 42.56.210(3). *Sanders*, 169 Wn.2d at 847-848. If an erroneous explanation complied with RCW 42.56.210(3), there would be no reason for an agency to change its exemption claims.⁶

Finally, the City trivializes its chronic violations of RCW 42.56.210(3), erroneously suggesting that the City had "cited the law" supporting its redaction of driver's license numbers, and that its explanation of such redactions were merely "not precise enough" to satisfy Koenig. *Petition* at 16. But the City's failures to comply with RCW 42.56.210(3) in this case were much worse than the state's violations in *Sanders*, which merely failed to explain why certain records were

⁶ The City's arguments are also self-contradictory. In the Court of Appeals, the City argued that there was no difference between failing to provide an exemption log and providing an erroneous exemption log. *Resp. Br.* at 7. That argument directly contradicts the City's new argument that an agency's response is insufficient only where the explanation required by RCW 42.56.210(3) is "omitted." *Petition* at 16.

privileged or work product. 169 Wn.2d at 837-839. The Court of Appeals correctly followed this Court's opinion in *Sanders* in holding the City liable for its violations of RCW 42.56.210(3).

In sum, the Court of Appeals *Opinion* does *not* "missappl[y]," "confus[e]," "disregard[]" or "conflict[] with" this Court's decision in *Sanders* or any other case. *Petition* at 3, 8, 14. The City seeks to dismantle RCW 42.56.210(3) and *Sanders* in an effort to avoid its liability for attorney's fees in a case that the City should never have filed.

C. The moot question of whether driver's license numbers should be exempt under the PRA is a policy matter for the legislature. The City's arguments regarding federal law were not properly preserved in the Court of Appeals and are meritless.

The City disputes the Court of Appeals' dicta observation that the lack of an express PRA exemption for driver's license numbers may be an "unfortunate oversight." *Opinion* at n. 3; *Petition* at 1, 4, 16. But the City's *Petition* fails to explain what section of the PRA, if any, authorized or required the City to redact driver's license numbers. The City also asserts that the Court of Appeals *Opinion* "forces local governments to violate federal law," specifically the DPPA (18 USC § 2721 et seq.). *Petition* at 1. These arguments do not warrant review by this Court.

As a threshold matter, the issue of whether driver's license numbers are exempt was not decided by the Court of Appeals, and that

issue has become moot. In response to the City's *Mot. Recon.*, Koenig explained that even if the court held that driver's license numbers were exempt under one of the many statutes cited by the City, the City would still be liable for its violation of RCW 42.56.210(3). The Court of Appeals agreed with Koenig, correctly noting that "the issue is whether the City violated the right to receive a response by failing to include a brief explanation, a violation recognized by *Sanders*, not whether the driver's license numbers were actually exempt." *Order* (10/28/13) at 2.

Even if the issue were not moot, the City's *Petition* totally fails to explain why driver's license numbers would be exempt under the PRA. In the lower courts the City inconsistently relied on numerous inapplicable statutes. *See* section II. But the *Petition* cites only DPPA (see below) and two inapplicable court rules.⁷ *Petition* at 17-18.

Having no coherent legal theory about why driver's licenses would be exempt under the existing PRA, the City urges the Court to reverse the Court of Appeals as a matter of public policy. As the City notes, the Court of Appeals suggested that the lack of an express exemption for driver's license numbers is "worthy of legislative attention." *Petition* at 16-17.

⁷ This Court has adopted rules that restrict access to various personal identifiers. See GR 22, GR 31.1(I)(5). But this Court has clearly stated that access to court records is governed by court rules while access to other agency records is governed by the PRA. Yakima County v. Yakima Herald-Republic, 170 Wn.2d 775, 792, 246 P.3d 768 (2011). This case does not involve access to court records.

But the City then leaps to the erroneous conclusion that this Court is equally capable of addressing the policy question of whether driver's license numbers should be exempt. *Id.* But the PRA does not work that way. This Court has repeatedly held that agencies must establish that a specific PRA exemption applies to particular records. *Franklin County Sheriff's Office v. Parmelee*, 175 Wn.2d 476, 480, 285 P.3d 67 (2012); *Seattle Times v. Serko*, 170 Wn.2d 581, 591, 243 P.3d 919 (2010); *Rental Housing Ass'n*, 165 Wn.2d at 535; *PAWS II*, 125 Wn.2d at 251 n.2.

Even if this Court were empowered to make up new PRA exemptions on public policy grounds there would be no reason to do so in this case. The Court of Appeals has already brought the issue of driver's license numbers to the attention of the legislature in its lengthy dicta footnote. *Opinion* at 7 n.3. A proposed PRA exemption for driver's license numbers has already been presented to the "Sunshine Committee" created by RCW 42.56.140.⁸ Assuming, *arguendo*, that the need for such an exemption is as dire as the City suggests, the 2014 legislature will act on this issue long before the Court could even hear this case.

Finally, the City's assertion that the Court of Appeals *Opinion* "forces local governments to violate federal law [DPPA]" is nonsense.

⁸ See http://www.atg.wa.gov/page.aspx?id=31534#.Urj2SLSFfqc (last visited December 23, 2013).

Petition at 1. In fact, the City abandoned its DPPA theory in the trial court, failing to respond to any of Koenig's arguments about the DPPA. CP 119-121; see CP 183-190. Koenig's opening brief in the Court of Appeals addressed the DPPA in detail, explaining how the City's reliance on DPPA was erroneous and/or inadequately explained. App. Br. at 16-19. But the City did not even cite DPPA in its brief. Instead, the City chose to rely on various inapplicable state statutes, and on its erroneous argument that Koenig had the burden of proof. Resp. Br. at 9-17.

As a general rule, appellate courts will not address issues that have not been briefed. See Cowiche Canyon Conservancy v. Bosley, 118 Wn.2d 801, 809, 828 P.2d 540 (1992). Not surprisingly, the Court of Appeals did not address (or even mention) the DPPA in its Opinion. As a result, the Opinion is not precedent on the question of whether or how DPPA applies to requests for records under the PRA. In re Burton, 80 Wn. App. 573, 582, 910 P.2d 1295 (1996). Contrary to the City's argument, local governments and state agencies remain free to explain how DPPA might apply to specific requests for records under the PRA.

Nor has the City ever explained why the DPPA required the redaction of driver's license numbers from the police reports requested by Koenig. The DPPA is a complex federal statute that regulates the disclosure of both "personal information" and "highly restricted personal

information" held by a state DMV. 18 USC § 2721(a). The DPPA does not specifically address driver's license numbers except as part of a broader definition of "personal information," which includes names, addresses, and other information. 18 USC § 2725(3). The DPPA restricts the use of "personal information" by a state DMV and by authorized recipients of such information. 18 USC § 2721(a),(c). The DPPA also provides a list of fourteen (14) permissible uses for which "personal information" may be disclosed. 18 USC § 2721(b).

Koenig has repeatedly explained that DPPA is simply not a blanket federal exemption for driver's license numbers. Koenig's cross-motion in the trial court addressed DPPA in detail, noting that (i) the City had not established the source of the redacted driver's license numbers was covered by DPPA in the first place, (ii) the City had not explained why disclosing records to Koenig as required by the PRA is not a "permissible use" under any of the fourteen (14) exceptions in 18 USC § 2721(b), and (iii) the definition of "personal information" in 18 USC § 2725(3) includes a person's name, address and telephone number, but the City disclosed such information in the very same records from which the City redacted driver's license numbers. CP 119-121. But the City ignored DPPA and Koenig's arguments in its reply. CP 183-190. The trial court did not cite DPPA in its oral or written order. RP 9; CP 229.

Koenig briefed the DPPA at the Court of Appeals, but the City completely ignored the issue again. The City seeks to revive its inconsistent reliance on DPPA in the *Petition*, but the City's arguments about DPPA are hopelessly conclusory and do not respond to any of Koenig's points (above). The City's assertion that DPPA "imposes civil liability" on anyone who discloses "personal information" under any circumstances is a ludicrous mischaracterization of DPPA. *Petition* at 19.

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